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Characters
Angelo Bernardone:  Stepbrother of Francesco

Maria:  Nurse and servant to the Bernardone family

Pica Bernardone:  Mother of Francesco

Pietro Bernardone:  Father of Francesco

Giovanni Francesco Bernardone:  Francis of Assisi

The Lesser Brothers:


Bernardo


Giles


Elias


Leo


Pietro Catanio


Philip


Rufino


Juniper


Sabbatino


Morico


Sylvester

Clare di Favarone:  Francesco’s friend; First member of Poor Sisters of Clare

Bishop Guido:  Bishop of Assisi

Pope Innocent III:  The pope of Rome

Cardinal Giovanni San Paolo:  One of Innocent’s advisors

Monaldo Offreduccio:  Clare’s uncle

Malik al-Kamil:  The Sultan of Egypt

Flexible number of men and women of Assisi.

Note:  There are multiple opportunities for doubling of roles; e.g. Angelo and Sylvester, Guido and Monaldo, Cardinal San Paolo and Malik al-Kamil, and so forth.
Setting

The set is abstract and should reflect 13th-century Italian architecture.  Stonework, archways, and wooden beams should be evident.  Multiple settings, both interior and exterior, can be suggested by the addition or removal of a set piece, or by a shifting unit or wall.  For Francesco’s meeting with the Sultan of Egypt in Act II, for example, a simple tent or pavilion might be brought in.
Synopsis of Scenes
PROLOGUE

The Piazza del Commune, a town square in the village of Assisi, Italy, 1182.

ACT  I
Scene 1:  The Piazza, 1202.

Scene 2:  The Piazza, 1205.

Scene 3:  The nearby countryside of Spoleto.  The following day.

Scene 4:  A storage room used as a cell in the Bernardone house, 1206.

Scene 5:  The Piazza de Santa Maria Maggiore, several months later.

Scene 6:  The church at San Damiano, 1207-08.

Scene 7:  The Lateran Palace of Innocent III, 1209.

Scene 8:  The Hall of Mirrors in the Lateran, 1210.

ACT  II

Scene 1:  Santa Maria della Portiuncula, 1211.

Scene 2:  The Portiuncula, a few days later.

Scene 3:  The Portiuncula, 1214.

Scene 4:  The pavilion of Malik al-Kamil.  Damietta, Egypt, 1219.

Scene 5:  The Portiuncula, 1220.

Scene 6:  Mount Verna, in the Appenine Mountains.  September 14, 1224.

Scene 7:  The Portiuncula. October 4, 1226.

Notes

The “Dies Irae” heard in the Prologue and again in the play’s last scene may either be recorded or sung live by the Brothers, or a combination of the two.


The director may choose to have Francesco and the Lesser Brothers tonsured after the order’s initial approval from Innocent.  Intermission would afford the opportunity to effect this change, if desired.


The most important consideration for costuming, beyond historical authenticity, is the sharp distinction between the wealthy and the poor.  Also, the Brothers are not outfitted identically.  Though all wear calf-length tunics with hoods and a simple rope belt with three knots below the waist, the colors are varying shades of gray and brown.


One last item worth mentioning is the degree of historical accuracy incorporated in the script.  There are numerous resources relating to the story of Francis of Assisi.  The selection and synthesizing of this information for purposes of a dramatic interpretation have proven very challenging.  Certainly, adhering to the basic facts of the story was of primary importance.  However, sometimes discrepancies in the resources themselves were quite evident concerning dates, locales, and events.  Some deviations from the record will be evident in the script, due to the singular purpose of adapting Francesco’s story for the stage.

Prologue

(The Piazza del Commune, a town square in the village of Assisi, in the year 1182.  Downstairs, the shop of the cloth merchant Pietro Bernardone; upstairs, his simply-furnished home.  The shop opens onto the square, which is bustling with early morning activity.  Angelo, a young boy, is setting out fabric on a table.  Maria, a nurse, is seated nearby, holding an infant in her arms.)
ANGELO:  When will Pietro be home?
MARIA:  I’ve told you before, Angelo.  I don’t know.

ANGELO:  He’s never been gone this long.

MARIA:  Your father loves France, you know that.  Especially Champagne.  Maybe this time he’ll bring me back a fine piece of silk. 

ANGELO:  He’s not really my father.

MARIA:  (Impatiently.)  He is, Angelo!  He is as much your father as Pica is your mother.  Stop complaining, now, and get on with your work.  You don’t want to be late for St. George.

ANGELO:  After school, may I go and play with Rufino?  He got a new puppet yesterday.

MARIA:  That boy and his puppets!  We’ll ask your mother when she comes down. 
ANGELO:  Why does she sleep so much?

MARIA:  You try giving birth and see what it does to you.  (Referring to the infant she is holding.)  This one here surprised us all coming so early.  Poor, little scrawny thing.  Enough, now.  Lay out the rest of the cloth.
(Pica by this time has descended from upstairs.  She goes to Maria and takes the baby.  As she does, Angelo quietly slips away.)
PICA:  I’ll take him now, Maria.  He took his milk this morning?

MARIA:  Oh, yes, Madam.  This one eats like there’s no tomorrow.

PICA:  And good for him.  So tiny when he was born.  He needs to be big and strong for his father.

MARIA:  Oh, he’ll be ready, Madam.  Why, he’ll be King of the Banquet when he grows up, mark me.

PICA:  And where is Angelo?

MARIA:  (Looking around, surprised.)  Why, he was just here, Madam, he was!  Aaugh, that one.  No help at all he’s been since the baby came.

PICA:  Be patient with him, Maria.  A new little brother, and a stepbrother at that, has not been easy for him.

MARIA:  Nor for you, Madam, if I may say.

(Angelo runs back in, very excited.)
ANGELO:  Pietro’s back!  He’s just entered the square.

PICA:  Go inside, Maria.  He’ll be wanting some food now.

MARIA:  (Exiting.)  Right away, Madam.  

PICA:  Angelo, greet your father well.  Let him know you missed him.

ANGELO:  I will, Mother.

PICA:  Make him glad to be home.  We must all be together now, a family.

ANGELO:  Yes, Mother.

(Pietro enters grandly, followed by a couple of servants who pull carts loaded with fabric.  He embraces her warmly.)
PIETRO:  Ah, ma petite Pica!  How I’ve missed you.  (Regarding the infant.)  And here!  Who is this little one?

PICA:  A son, Pietro.  You have a new son.

PIETRO:  (Thrilled, taking the baby in his arms.)  A son!  A son!  God has blessed me with a son.

PICA:  A second.

PIETRO:  Yes, yes, of course.  A little brother for Angelo.

PICA:  He came too early, several weeks.

PIETRO:  Ah, no wonder he’s so small!  He has been baptized?

PICA:  Last week.

PIETRO:  You’ve named him, then?

PICA:  Yes.  His name is Giovanni.

PIETRO:  (Surprised and upset.)  Giovanni?

PICA:  After the prophet.

PIETRO:  My son shall not be called Giovanni!

PICA:  What?

PIETRO:  (Adamant.)  My son shall not bear the same name as some ancient desert hermit who dressed in camel’s hair and dined on locusts and wild honey!

PICA:  Pietro!  I thought the name would please you!

PIETRO:  No, my dear.  You thought the name would please you.  
PICA:  But it has been given to him, set down in the archives.  He has been baptized with the name!

PIETRO:  Be that as it may, Pica, he shall henceforth not be called as such.

PICA:  What, then?

PIETRO:  For my son, borne by the most beautiful and noble woman of France, and destined to follow in his father’s footsteps as the most successful cloth merchant in all of Assisi – for my son . . .  (Now raising the infant above his head.)  For my son, the name of Francesco.
(The lights fade, except for a very faint glow on the tableau of Pica and Pietro, holding the infant aloft.  A funereal procession of Franciscan Brothers slowly enters, singing “Dies Irae.”  They process in, the first four  [Bernardo, Giles, Elias, and Leo] carrying aloft a stretcher on which lies the adult corpse of Francesco Bernardone, Francis of Assisi. Those following carry lit candles.  The brothers are returning his body to Assisi.)
BROTHERS:  (Singing.)




Dies irae!  Dies illa





Solvet saeclum in favilla






Teste David cum Sibylla!





Mors stupebit et natura,





Cum resurget creatura,





Judicanti responsura.





Rex tremendae majestatis,





Qui salvandos salvas gratis,




Salva me, fons pietatis.





Recordare, Jesu pie,





Quod sum causa tuae viae:





Ne me perdas illa die.





O tu, Deus majestatis,





Alme candor Trinitatis





Nos coniunge cum beatis.  Amen.

(As the Brothers cross to center stage, the stretcher is held aloft directly downstage of Pietro holding the infant, thus superimposing one image over the other.  The two images coincide as the Brothers sing the “Amen.”  Lights fade.)
ACT  ONE

Scene 1
(The same – the Piazza del Commune.  The year is 1202.  Townspeople mill about, some selling their wares from storefronts, others inspecting fruit from oxcarts.  A woman draws water from a public fountain.  Dogs, sheep, and chickens wander about freely.  Pica, now in her fifties, and Maria tend to their shop.)
PICA:  Where did Angelo go?

MARIA:  Off to Mount Subasio again, hunting.

PICA:  Pietro will not like that.

MARIA:  Pietro will not notice, as long as Francesco returns today.

PICA:  And why wouldn’t he?  Feligno is only a day away.

MARIA:  You know Francesco, Madam.  It isn’t delivering the cloth that delays; it’s the journey to and from the destination.

PICA:  Give him credit, Maria.  He has worked hard these years.  He has been an expert apprentice, and he has delighted his father.

MARIA:  And everyone else, too.

PICA:  (Scolding.)  Maria!

MARIA:  Really, madam.  Excuse me, but you must watch him more closely.  Out with the Tripudianti night after night . . .

PICA:  He is a young man, Maria.

MARIA:  And sewing his oats, I know.  But all the drinking, madam, all the women . . .

PICA:  Nonsense, Maria.  The girls are attracted to him.
(Clare, a young girl of seven or eight, approaches, carrying a jug of water.)

CLARE:  Has Francesco returned yet, Mrs. Bernardone?

(The two women exchange a look.)
PICA:  We expect him soon, Clare.  But he will be busy in the shop all day.  Hadn’t you better get your water home, now?

CLARE:  But I wanted to show him my new doll.

MARIA:  He’ll see it soon enough, child.  Now off with you.

(Clare continues on her way as Pietro, now also in his fifties,  enters from offstage.)
MARIA:  He has no shame, mark me.

PIETRO:  The consuls in Gubbio are with us!
PICA:  Against Perugia?

PIETRO:  Of course against Perugia!  Fabriano, Noura, Spello, Narni, and now Gubbio!  The Germans don’t stand a chance!
PICA:  Pietro!  You speak against Rome!

PIETRO:  I speak for Assisi.  We ran the Duke and his minions out of Rocca Maggiore.  Ran them out with their tails between their legs, all the way to Perugia.  Now they think to reclaim our commune and restore sovereignty to Rome.  But they are mistaken!  Assisi will not be corrupted like all the rest!
(Francesco enters.  Elegantly dressed, he is a rather slight young man of twenty, with dark hair and dark eyes.  His intense charisma is immediately apparent.) 
PICA:  (Going to him.)  Francesco!

FRANCESCO:  (Holding up a money bag towards his father.)  Look, Father!  They wanted everything!  They took it all!

PIETRO:  Didn’t I tell you?  Everyone in Feligno is wealthy.  And why shouldn’t they want it all?  Do I not provide the finest fabric in the entire valley?  Suitable for a king?

FRANCESCO:  Indeed, Father.  And tonight, I shall act the king – King of the Banquet!
(Pietro laughs heartily as Pica and Maria exchange another look.  Bernardo enters excitedly.)
BERNARDO:  Francesco!  You’re back.  Have you heard?

FRANCESCO:  What?

PIETRO:  Gubbio has joined with Assisi against the Empire.

FRANCESCO:  Then that is it.  We are as one.

BERNARDO:  And in two days we march to the Tiber to preserve our commune.

PICA:  (Anxious for her son.)  Bernardo, you are going?

BERNARDO:  (Nodding and looking towards Francesco.)  You are with us?

FRANCESCO:  (Deliberating only slightly.)  I am with you.

PICA:  No!

PIETRO:  Pica!

PICA:  It is not for you.  It is not in your nature.  You are not suited for war.  (Turning to her husband, pleading.)  Pietro?
PIETRO:  Francesco . . .

FRANCESCO:  No, Father.  I am going.  I will be a warrior for Assisi.
PICA:  Francesco, you cannot labor in . . .
FRANCESCO:  I can.  Did I not help storm Maggiore to drive the nobles from their tower?  Did I not help chase them from our town so that we could be free from outside influence?  And did I not carry the stone from Rocca and help build the very wall that now defends Assisi?  (Turning now to Bernardo.)  I will go with you, Bernardo.
(Francesco ascends the stairs up to his house.)
PICA:  (Calling after him.)  Francesco!

PIETRO:  Let him go, Pica.
BERNARDO:  He’ll be all right.  I’ll watch over him.

PICA:  Bernardo . . .

BERNARDO:  All his life he has wanted to be a noble – a knight.  This is his chance.  Let him show he can be more than the Master Reveler.

(Bernardo exits.  Pica seeks comfort from Pietro, as Maria hastens inside.  Lights fade.)
ACT  ONE

Scene 2

(An autumn morning in 1205 on the Piazza del Commune.  At this early hour, only a few merchants are out, preparing for the day.  It is still quiet in front of the Bernardone home and storefront.  Momentarily, a group of four or five rather boisterous young men enter, accompanied by several young women.  By their dress, they are all upper-class.  Pietro Catanio and Bernardo are members of the group.)

YOUNG MEN:  (Singing.)




Time for gladness, time for play,




Holiday we keep today:





Let the fiddle sound the strain,





Sing the good old songs again.





Never mind what’s not allowed,





Love is youth’s temptation:





Here we go, a glorious crowd,





Hell-bent for vacation.

(A couple of the young men call out to Francesco.  The others  continue carousing, as a now elderly Maria enters from the house, walking with a cane.)
MARIA:  Have you lost your minds, then?  What are the lot of you up to now?
YOUNG MAN #1:  (Grabbing Maria and twirling her around.)  Maria!  Come and dance with me!

MARIA:  (Slapping him away with her cane.)  What are you thinking, boy – an old, crippled woman like me!

BERNARDO:  Is Francesco inside?

MARIA:  He is, and there he’ll stay.

YOUNG MAN #2:  Come now, Maria.  He’ll come hunting with us on Subasio.

MARIA:  He’ll do no such thing, mind you.  Have you forgotten his health?

CATANIO:  We know all about his health, Maria.  That’s why we’ve come.

BERNARDO:  It’s time he gets out more.  He’s been convalescing for nearly a year now.

MARIA:  And just as long imprisoned in Perugia, Bernardo.  And you side by side with him at Collestrada.  You know he caught the malaria in that prison and would be there today still if his father hadn’t paid his ransom.  And yours as well!
(Peter Catanio begins throwing small stones at the upstairs window in an effort to get Francesco to come down.)
BERNARDO:  And forever grateful will I be to your master.  But that was a whole year ago.  It’s time Francesco got on with his life.

YOUNG MAN #1:  He hasn’t been hunting the whole year he’s been back.

MARIA:  Of course he hasn’t been hunting!  He’s been recuperating!

YOUNG WOMAN:  It’s only for the day, ma’am.  We’ll take care of him.

MARIA:  (Scornful.)  Oh, I’m sure you will.

(The upstairs shutters now open to reveal a sickly and pale Francesco in his nightgown.)
CATANIO:  Ah!  Francesco!  King of the Feasts!

YOUNG MAN #3:  We go to Mount Subasio.  To hunt!
YOUNG WOMAN:  Come with us!

FRANCESCO:  Bernardo, Pietro . . .  It is so good to see you.

BERNARDO:  Come!  As we used to.

MARIA:  Your mother will not allow it, Francesco.  Back to bed.

FRANCESCO:  I  feel strong this morning, Maria.  (To the others.)  Let me get dressed and I will go with you.

(Maria hastily goes inside to inform Pica of Francesco.  The young men and women cheer and move off, except Pietro Catanio, who waits for his friend.  As Francesco starts to close the shutters, a dove lands on the windowsill.  Francesco studies it for a moment before enfolding it in his hands, holding it aloft and releasing it.  Smiling, he closes the shutters.  From inside, we hear Maria’s shouts.)
MARIA:  Madame Pica!  Master Pietro!

(Catanio now helps himself to some fruit from a cart as he awaits Francesco.  Momentarily,Pietro enters from inside.)

PIETRO:  (Pleased to see Pietro Catanio.)  Catanio!  (Embracing him.)  It’s good to see you!

CATANIO:  And you, sir.

PIETRO:  I miss the old days when you and the others would always come round. 

CATANIO:  Yes, sir.  It has not been the same since Bernardo and Francesco were released from the prison.

PIETRO:  You don’t need to tell me, son.  All day Francesco shuffles around, then he goes back to bed, then he awakes to shuffle around some more.  But what brings you here this morning?

CATANIO:  My friends and I are hunting today on the mount and came to see if Francesco would join us.

PIETRO:  Hunting, eh?  On old Subasio . . .  Of course he will join you.  Be good for him to get out for a day.  Fresh air, sunshine, friends . . .
CATANIO:  Yes, sir.

PIETRO:  Only be gone before his mother stops him.  She coddles him, you know.

FRANCESCO:  (Entering from the house.)  Pietro Catanio!

(The two embrace as Pietro heads back into the house.)

PIETRO:  I’ll get your bow and arrows, Francesco.

FRANCESCO:  How I’ve missed you, and Bernardo, and all the others.

CATANIO:  And we have missed you, too.  

FRANCESCO:  I’m glad you came today.

CATANIO:  (Hesitantly.)  Francesco, it is not only for the hunt that we have come.  There is something else, something more important.  Bernardo would not talk to you, because of Perugia.
FRANCESCO:  What is it?

CATANIO:  A call has been issued for the fourth crusade.  Of course, everyone knows of what happened at Collestrada, and of your and Bernardo’s being captured . . .

FRANCESCO:  When?

CATANIO:  Several of us join with the Count of Brienne tomorrow at Apulia.  We leave at dawn.

FRANCESCO:  I want to go with you.

CATANIO:  Your parents?

FRANCESCO:  My mother will not want me to go.  My father will encourage me.  He will not tell her until it’s too late.
(A shuffling figure dressed in an old, ragged, grey cloak approaches.  The sound of the wooden clapper around his neck interrupts Francesco and Peter.)

CATANIO:  (To the Leper.)  Here now.  Be off with you.  It’s too late for you to be out.  

LEPER:  Please, sir, a little food for my wife and my boy.

CATANIO:  You know the rules, old man.  Back now to San Lazzaro before I report you.  

LEPER:  Only a spoiled piece of fruit . . .
CATANIO:  I am a man of the law.  Be gone, you scabrous leper.

FRANCESCO:  (Admonishingly.)  Pietro!

(Francesco brushes past Catanio and approaches the Leper.  He kneels down and removes the Leper’s hood.)

CATANIO:  (Disbelieving.)  Francesco!  What are you . . .

FRANCESCO:  (Taking several gold coins from his pocket and giving them to the Leper.)  Here. Now go your way.

(The Leper takes Francesco’s hands in his and kisses them.  In return, Francesco kisses the Leper’s forehead.)

FRANCESCO:  God’s peace be with you.

(Francesco helps the Leper to stand and gently turns him away.  The Leper exits.)
PETER:  Francesco, you know the law prohibits . . .

FRANCESCO:  Peace, Catanio.  I know what your law says.

PIETRO:  (Returning with bow and arrows, which he gives to Francesco.)  Quickly, now.  Maria has awakened your mother.

FRANCESCO:  Father, I shall want a talk with you after we return home this evening.  (To Peter.)  Let us go.

(Francesco exits.  Catanio  and Pietro look at each other for a few seconds before Catanio exits.   Pietro looks after them, curious.  Lights fade.)
ACT  ONE

Scene 3

(The next day.  An outcrop in the countryside of Spoleto, on the way to Apulia.  The scene is set downstage.  Francesco and Bernardo, both in knightly regalia, are seated upon a large boulder.  Francesco seems weakened by the journey thus far.)
BERNARDO:  I thought you would come with us, Francesco.  But I’m not certain you are up to the journey.

FRANCESCO:  I only need to rest a while, Bernardo, while the horses drink.

BERNARDO:  You spoke to your father?

FRANCESCO:  Last night, after we returned from hunting.
BERNARDO:  And he approves?

FRANCESCO:  (Nodding.)  He sees it as a way to make up for Collestrada, to preserve the family name.
BERNARDO:  And your mother?

FRANCESCO:  She doesn’t know.  He means to tell her today.  (Pause.)  She has no say in the matter.

BERNARDO:  She loves you very much.

FRANCESCO:  (Looking around.)  Where are we now?

BERNARDO:  (Surprised.)  Do you not recognize the valley?  See, there is Spoleto down there.

FRANCESCO:  I have not traveled here for some time.

BERNARDO:  Francesco, there is no shame in remaining.  You do not seem yourself.

FRANCESCO:  I am going, Bernardo.  Talk no more about it.

BERNARDO:  I’ll get the horses.

(Bernardo exits.  Left alone, Francesco seems troubled and contemplative.  After a few moments, he rises from the boulder and crosses far downstage center.  He kneels down, closes his eyes, bows his head, and prays.)

FRANCESCO:  Veni, Sancte Spiritus, reple tuorum corda fidelium, et tui amoris in eis ignem accende.  Emitte Spiritum tuum at creabuntur, et renovabis faciem terrae.

(Organ music for “Veni, Sancte Spiritus” begins to play.  Francesco seems to go into a spiritual trance.  After a few moments, he hears a voice.  [This voice-over is Francesco’s own recorded voice.] )
VOICE-OVER:  Go back, Francesco.  Do not go to Apulia.

FRANCESCO:  (Live.)  Where then shall I go?  What shall I do?

VOICE-OVER:  Return home.  You will be given a sign.
FRANCESCO:  (Now opening his eyes slowly.)  Sancte Spiritus.

(He stands slowly, looks in the direction of Bernardo, hesitates, and exits in the opposite direction.  The organ music has played throughout, and now the lyrics are heard as well.  Francesco re-enters from upstage, weakened further by the return trip.  He no longer wears his armor.  He makes his way to the remnants of an old church, San Damiano.  Its walls are crumbling and its interior is in a state of severe disrepair.  Dazed, Francesco enters the “interior” of the church and approaches its altar, his back to us.  He is drawn by the church’s wooden cross, which bears an image of the crucified Christ.  He slowly makes his way up center, transfixed.  He kneels down solemnly and stares intently at the cross.  The lyrics now fade, although the music continues softly.  Francesco hears a voice.  [Unlike the preceding scene, this voice is not his own.  It is external.] )
VOICE:  Francesco, go and repair my church, which is being destroyed.

FRANCESCO:  Renovabis faciem terrae.

(Reverentially, Francesco now lies fully prone on the ground.  Lights fade.)

ACT  ONE

Scene 4

(Late winter, 1206.  A small, dimly-lit storage room off the Bernardone main house, in which Pietro has imprisoned his son.  Francesco, dirty and in ragged clothes, lies asleep on a bed of straw.  After a few moments, Pica enters carrying a tray of bread, cheese, fruit, and some pastries.  She sets the tray down to unlock the door.  Entering the room, she moves to Francesco, who hasn’t stirred.)

PICA:  (Calling softly.)  Francesco?  (Pause.)  Francesco?

FRANCESCO:  (Now stirring.)  Mother.

PICA:  I’ve brought you some food.

FRANCESCO:  (Sitting up.)  What time is it?

PICA:  It’s morning.  Angelo is opening the shop.

FRANCESCO:  (Starting to eat.)  It’s warm.

PICA:  Spring is nearly here.  You’ve been here almost a month now.

FRANCESCO:  You made cannoli.
PICA:  No, Clare brought them early this morning.

FRANCESCO:  Clare?

PICA:  Favarone’s daughter.

FRANCESCO:  Yes, I know who she is.  She came to see me at San Damiano.

PICA:  Did she?

FRANCESCO:  Twice.  The first time I thought it was Father, so I hid in the cave until she was gone.  Then, a few days later, she came again.  I was working and didn’t hear her.

PICA:  Favarone Offreduccio is one your father’s closest friends.  If he knows of Clare going to see you. . .  Francesco, what are you doing there, at San Damiano?

FRANCESCO:  I’ve told you, Mother.  I’m rebuilding the church.

PICA:  But why?  No one ever goes there anymore.

FRANCESCO:  It doesn’t matter.  God told me to repair it.

PICA:  God speaks to all of us, Francesco.

FRANCESCO:  And sometimes, we listen.

PICA:  (Pause.)  So what happens now?

FRANCESCO:  That is not up to me.

PICA:  Francesco, your father doesn’t know what to do.  When you  were captured at Collestrada, he was beside himself.  He was lost.  Then, when he was able to get your release, he thought that finally things would be as before, that you would work here in the shop and one day take it over, just as your father did from his father, and he from his before that.
FRANCESCO:  Things will never be as before, Mother.

PICA:  What about your friends?  Bernardo?  Catanio?

FRANCESCO:  They will always be my friends.

PICA:  But you never see them anymore.  You never hunt or play chess with them as you did.  You were so full of life, always celebrating with the Tripudianca.  Every year they would name you King of the Banquet.  And all the young girls would fawn over you.
FRANCESCO:  I am more full of life today than ever I was before.  But I no longer wish to be the King of the Banquet.  I wish to serve the King of the Banquet.
PICA:  Angelo says some of the townspeople even think you have lost your mind, that you are crazy.

FRANCESCO:  My mind was never mine to lose.

PICA:  (Pause.)  What happened in Perugia, Francesco?

FRANCESCO:  I was a year in that cell.  A whole year in which to think.

PICA:  You were so sickly when you returned.  But there was something more than that.

FRANCESCO:  I know that Father was ashamed of me.

PICA:  Francesco!

FRANCESCO:  And that is why I thought to join with Brienne at Apulia.  I  had no burning desire to go.  But I thought somehow that it might ease the humiliation of Collestrada.

PICA:  And you came back.

FRANCESCO:  On a hillside outside of Spoleto, we stopped to water the horses, Bernardo and I.  He went to get them ready.  I was left alone.  Something – someone – spoke to me.
PICA:  (Smiling sadly.)  The voice of one crying out from the wilderness.

FRANCESCO:  I then made to return to Assisi.  It was then I came to San Damiano.  After that, after God spoke to me, I no longer had any choice in the matter.  (Pause.)  I am his instrument.

PICA:  (Very moved.  Referring to the door.)  Go, Francesco Giovanni.

(Francesco looks at her, mystified.)

PICA:  Your father is away.  He left yesterday to see to things in Gubbio.

FRANCESCO:  He will not harm you?

PICA:  (Shaking her head.)  You cannot be kept here, locked up in your own house.  (Pause.)  You left a long time ago.

(Francesco embraces her and exits slowly.  Pica slowly sinks down upon his bed of straw.  Lights fade.)
ACT  ONE

Scene 5

(The Piazza di Santa Maria Maggiore, which adjoins Bishop Guido’s Palace.  An autumn morning in 1206.  An atmosphere of anticipation and anxiety permeates the square as the crowd swells.  On one end of the square, a small dais is visible to accommodate Bishop Guido. The nobles and merchants, gloriously attired, congregate in this area.  At present, among others, can be seen Clare and Pica, Maria and a young farmer named Giles, and Pietro and Pietro Catanio, who are going over some notes in preparation for the trial.) 
GILES:  (Speaking to Maria, downstage left.)  But is it not a civil suit?  Why will Bishop Guido come?

MARIA:  I only know what the lady of the house tells me.  The consuls decided that it comes under the jurisdiction of the ecclesiastical court.
GILES:  But Francesco makes no claims against the Church.  Why has he been brought here?
MARIA:  I don’t know, Giles.  We will find out soon.

CATANIO:  (From down right.  Speaking to Pietro Bernardone, referring to some papers he carries.)  Here.  The inheritance rights guaranteed to Giovanni Francesco Bernardone – right here in the archives.

PIETRO:  They must be changed.  All shall now go to Angelo.

CATANIO:  You should hear first what the Bishop has to say.

PIETRO:  What can he say?  The truth is the truth.

CLARE:  (Speaking to Pica, down left.  Anxious.)  Will Francesco go to jail?  Will they put him in prison?

PICA:  I don’t know, Clare.  But even if they did, he would not be there.
CLARE:  (Spying Francesco entering.)  He’s here!  There with Father Leo!
(The crowd continues to grow as Francesco and Leo, a priest, now enter, creating quite a stir.  Several call out to him, some in support, most in derision.  Leo clears a path for Francesco; they wind up down left.)
CATANIO:  (Crossing to them.)  Your father is very upset, Francesco.

LEO:  He knows that, Pietro.  

CATANIO:  It is not necessary to go through with this.

FRANCESCO:  No, it is not.

CATANIO:  You must return home and begin again to live a normal life.

LEO:  (Quietly chastising.)  Pietro.

FRANCESCO:  It’s all right, Leo.  Pietro is a man of the law.  A notary must do his job.
(Bishop Guido now enters and takes his place on the dais.  He wears a white cassock and surplice, a red cloak, a white miter, and a heavy gold cross about his neck.  The crowd falls silent as he addresses them.)

GUIDO:  God’s blessing be upon you on this, the twelfth day of October, in the year of Our Lord, 1206.  In nomine Patris, et Filii, et Spiritus Sancti.
(He blesses the crowd who respond “Amen.”)

GUIDO:  Pietro Bernardone.  We assemble here today in this ecclesiastical court to hear your charges brought against your son, Giovanni Francesco Bernardone.  What have you to say?

PIETRO:  (Stepping forward.)  Your Grace, you know I am a successful cloth merchant of Assisi.  And you know for all my life I have supported the community and the Church.  I am a good man, your Grace.  I love my family, my work, my countrymen.  Since the day he was born, I have provided for my son, knowing that the day would come when he would take over for me. 
GUIDO:  Pietro, what is your complaint against Giovanni Francesco?

PIETRO:  He has dishonored my name and the name of my family.

GUIDO:  How dishonored?

PIETRO:  During the past year, he has ignored his personal obligations at the store, he has disobeyed many times the family rule, and he has rebelled against all authority.  He lives in filth, dresses in rags, and brings shame to the Bernardone name.
GUIDO:  There are those to whom your son appears a religious man, Pietro.

PIETRO:  I say he is no type of man at all.

GUIDO:  He has taken no vows nor confined himself to the monastery.  Yet today he appears before this court.  
LEO:  (Stepping forth.)  Bishop Guido, though he be neither priest nor monk, Francesco offers himself as a penitent.
GUIDO:  So are we all, Father Leo.  Whether aware of it or no.  (Turning his attention back to Pietro.)  What specific action has your son taken against the Church, Pietro?

PIETRO:  Theft, Your Grace.

GUIDO:  (Surprised.)  Theft against the Church?

PIETRO:  Against me and against her.  Over the past year, since returning from Apulia, he has not been himself.  He wears rags, he spends his days walking the countryside, always by himself.  People think him mad.  Many times he goes to San Lazzaro, so I have been told.  He talks of voices he has heard, visions he has seen.  He has slipped away before my eyes.  (Pause.)  Then, several months ago, he left our home for good, but not before stealing several rolls of cloth from my shop.  Penitent or no, he is a scoundrel, a rebel, and a thief.
GUIDO:  Giovanni Francesco.
(Francesco steps forward.)

GUIDO:  You have heard what your father said, the charges he brings against you.

FRANCESCO:  I have heard.

GUIDO:  What have you to say on your behalf?

FRANCESCO:  In Spoleto, on the way to Apulia, I heard  a voice.  The voice told me to return home, to serve my master.  I did so, but came first to San Damiano, a church in need of repair.  I was told to mend the church.

GUIDO:  And who told you this?  (No answer.)  Who gave you this directive?

FRANCESCO:  My Father.

PIETRO:  What?

FRANCESCO:  I took the cloth and sold it that I would be able to re-build San Damiano, as I had been instructed.
PIETRO:  You were instructed to commit thievery, to steal from your own family?

GUIDO:  Francesco, you have brought shame to your father.  What you have taken needs to be returned.  God does not wish that you spend unjustly-acquired  money on behalf of His Church.  Have confidence in Him and do not be afraid.  He will provide you what you need for your work.

(Francesco steps forward and extracts a handful of coins, which he places at Pietro’s feet.)
FRANCESCO:  I return to you your money, your possessions, your name.  From this day forward I hereby renounce all of my hereditary rights from my family.

PICA:  (Quietly.)  Francesco!

FRANCESCO:  (Turning now to face Bishop Guido directly.)  Until this day, I have called Pietro Bernardone my father.  From now on, without reserve, I say, “My Father, who art in heaven.”

(Simply, Francesco sheds his clothing.  There is silence among the crowd.  Bishop Guido descends from his dais and approaches Francesco, now naked.  Guido removes his mantle and puts it around Francesco, who slowly starts out.  Halfway off, he drops the mantle and continues his exit.  Pietro turns to look at Bishop Guido, who bows his head.  Lights fade.  )
ACT  ONE

Scene 6
(The years following the trial.  The church at San Damiano is now almost completely repaired.  From a nearby cart, Francesco takes stones with which he is finishing a particular wall section.  After a few moments, Bernardo quietly enters.  He watches Francesco lay stones for a few moments before Francesco notices him.)
FRANCESCO:  (Finally recognizing him and hurrying to his side.)  Bernardo!  How good to see you, friend.

BERNARDO:  And you, Francesco.  I see you have remembered your masonry skills from the Maggiore.
FRANCESCO:  How long ago it seems we stormed that castle.  But today is today.  You are here.  You have returned safely.

BERNARDO:  In body more than spirit.
FRANCESCO:  What do you mean?

BERNARDO:  I am back from one crusade, and I am ready to join another.  (Pause.)  I have heard what they say about you.  And I have listened to you preach at Gubbio and Feligno, though you were not aware of me.  I wish to join you, Francesco.  Will you have me?

(Francesco embraces him.  From the opposite side of the stage enters Pietro Catanio.)
CATANIO:  And I have seen you at San Lazzaro, cleansing the lepers, praying with them.   (Pause.)  I come to be with you as well.

FRANCESCO:  (Extending his hand towards Catanio.)  Pietro Catanio.  Come.

(Catanio joins Francesco and Bernardo.  Francesco sits, inviting the other two to do likewise.  He takes a bible and holds it up to the pair before opening it randomly.)

FRANCESCO:  (Reading from the Bible.)  “Go.  Sell what you own, and give it to the poor, and you will have treasure in heaven.  Then, come and follow me.”

(Francesco closes the book and hands it to Bernardo, who also opens it randomly.)

BERNARDO:  (Reading.)  “Take nothing for your journey – no staff, nor bag, nor bread, nor money – not even an extra tunic.”
(Bernardo returns the closed book to Francesco, who hands it to Pietro Catanio.  He, too, opens it randomly.)
CATANIO:  (Reading.)  “If anyone wants to come with me, he must forget himself and follow me.”

(Catanio returns the book to Francesco, who lays it aside.  Now kneeling, he extends his hands to Bernardo and Catanio, who place one hand in his.  Francesco closes his eyes and bows his head.  The other two follow suit.  The lights dim except for a special on the three of them.  Music for “Veni, Sancte Spiritus” begins to play and continues throughout the remainder of the scene. In the montage that follows, eight men individually appear, each in a separate pool of light.  Francesco, as if sensing their  presence, calls out their names individually.  They join the group at center after their individual recitations, each taking the hand of the person by whom he is kneeling, ultimately forming a completed circle.)
FRANCESCO:  (Calling.)  Giles.

GILES:  (In his pool of light.)  Blessed are the poor in spirit . . .

FRANCESCO:  For theirs is the kingdom of heaven.

(The sequence for each of the eight is to remain in his  light until Francesco responds.  He then joins the circle and his pool of light fades.  Francesco waits until each one has joined the group before proceeding to the next.)
FRANCESCO:  Philip.

PHILIP:  Blessed are they who mourn . . .

FRANCESCO:  For they will be comforted.  (Sequence.)  Rufino.

RUFINO:  Blessed are the meek . . .

FRANCESCO:  For they will inherit the land.  (Sequence.)  Juniper.

JUNIPER:  Blessed are they who seek righteousness . . .

FRANCESCO:  For they will be satisfied.  (Sequence.)  Father Leo.

LEO:  Blessed are the merciful . . .

FRANCESCO:  For they will be shown mercy.  (Sequence.)  Sabbatino.
SABBATINO:  Blessed are the clean of heart . . .

FRANCESCO:  For they shall see God.  (Sequence.)  Morico . . .

MORICO:  Blessed are the peacemakers . . .

FRANCESCO:  For they shall be called children of God.  (Sequence.)  Elias.

ELIAS:  Blessed are they who are persecuted for His sake . . .

FRANCESCO:  For they shall inherit the kingdom of heaven.  (Sequence.)

(The circle is now fully enclosed, the only light on stage now being the original special on Francesco, Bernardo, and Pietro Catanio.  Francesco begins to sing with the music.)

FRANCESCO:  (Singing.)





Veni, Sancte Spiritus,





Reple tuorum corda fidelium,





Et tui amoris in eis ignem accende.

OTHERS:  (Now joining Francesco, singing together.)




Emitte Spiritum tuum et creabuntur;





Et renovabis faciem terrae.

(As they sing the “Amen,” the lights fade.  Music continues into the next scene.)
ACT  ONE

Scene 7
(A hallway in the Lateran Palace of Pope Innocent III, 1209.  The Pope is in his late forties, an imposing and regal authority.  He, Cardinal Giovanni San Paolo, and Bishop Guido enter, engaged in conversation.)
INNOCENT:  As well you are aware, Bishop Guido, I have only last year called for a new crusade against the Albigensians in Languedoc.

GUIDO:  Yes, Your Holiness.  And, to be frank, there are those who look upon Francesco and his followers as schismatic, if not heretical.
INNOCENT:  You serve only to increase my suspicions.

GUIDO:  But he doesn’t seek to establish a new order.

INNOCENT:  What then?

GUIDO:  At my urging, he seeks papal sanction to allow him and his followers to continue what they do.

INNOCENT:  And that is?

GUIDO:  They meditate, they work in the fields, they minister to the poor and nurse the sick, they preach . . .

INNOCENT:  (Surprised.)  They preach?

GUIDO:  Only in the direct vicinity, Your Holiness.

INNOCENT:  So they have not, as yet, established any Rule by which to live their lives?
GUIDO:  Only that which they extract from the Gospels; they choose to live in extreme poverty.
INNOCENT:  This man is from Assisi?

GUIDO:  Yes.  But now he spends half of his days caring for the lepers at San Lazzaro, and the other half rebuilding the church at Santa Maria della Portiuncula, which seems to have become their center.

INNOCENT:  San Lazzaro?  How is it that he does not acquire the disease himself?
GUIDO:  Maybe he does.  But he spent a year in prison at Perugia and likely contracted malaria as well as consumption.  Perhaps they provide him immunity to the leprosy.

INNOCENT:  Perhaps.  (Pause.)  I have visited with the Curia about this man.  There is much resistance, not surprising in this day and age, would you not agree, Cardinal San Paolo?

SAN PAOLO:  The Curia certainly has its reservations, Your Holiness.  However, I feel we must be very careful.  If the young man’s chosen way of life attempts to mimic that set down in the Holy Book, how can sanctions be withheld without blaspheming its very author, Jesus Christ?

  INNOCENT:  Very good, Cardinal.  (Turning to Guido.)  Bishop Guido, I shall entertain your “Penitents of Assisi.”  Let them come to Rome.
GUIDO:  Yes, Your Holiness.  (Bowing and kissing Innocent’s hand.)  Thank you.

(San Paolo escorts Bishop Guido out as Innocent reflects upon the arrival of Francesco Bernardone.  Lights fade.)

ACT  ONE

Scene 8
(The Hall of Mirrors in the Lateran, 1210.    Francesco is quietly visiting with Father Leo, and Bishop Guido with Cardinal Giovanni San Paolo, as they await the arrival of Pope Innocent.  Several other cardinals and bishops are also present.  After a few moments, Innocent enters.  All kneel and bow their heads as he blesses them.)
INNOCENT:  In nomine Patris, et Filii, et Spiritus Sancti.
ALL:  Amen.

(All now rise.)

INNOCENT:  Dominus vobiscum.  (Summoning Francesco.)  Giovanni Francesco Bernardone.
FRANCESCO:  (Coming forward.)  Your Grace.

INNOCENT:  You come to us today, Francesco, from the town of Assisi.

FRANCESCO:  Yes, Your Grace.

INNOCENT:  Traveling one-hundred miles along the Via Flaminia to finally arrive in Rome.

FRANCESCO:  Yes.
INNOCENT:  Tell me Francesco, for what purpose have you made this journey?

FRANCESCO:  We wish our way of life to be confirmed by His Holiness.

INNOCENT:  Describe for me that way of life.  
FRANCESCO:  We have settled at Santa Maria, in the Portiuncula.  The Abbot of Mount Subasio has provided us with the land, and we are in the process of repairing the church there.  We have built hermitages in which to stay.  Our days are filled with working the land, group prayer, and individual meditation.
INNOCENT:  You and the others have also preached?

FRANCESCO:  We have spoken in the nearby towns and villages.
INNOCENT:  And you have administered the sacraments there as well?

FRANCESCO:  No, Your Grace.  Only Father Leo.

INNOCENT:  (To Leo.)  You are an ordained priest?

LEO:  (Assenting.)  Bishop Guido presided at my ordination.

(Innocent glances at Guido, who nods.)

INNOCENT:  And you were sought by Francesco to join his fraternity?

LEO:  No.  Neither Francesco nor any of the brothers appeal to anyone to join us.  I went of my own accord, drawn only by his example.

INNOCENT:  Francesco, was there a moment, a time, when you first heard the call?

FRANCESCO:  I had planned on going to Apulia, to join with Brienne on the fourth crusade.  On the way there, I heard a voice inside of me telling me to go back to Assisi.  I did.  But before I arrived, I came across an old, crumbling church at San Damiano.  It was there that I first heard the Almighty speak to me from the cross on the altar.  “Go and repair my church, which is being destroyed.”
INNOCENT:  You heard this voice, and you felt it necessary to establish a new Order?

FRANCESCO:  I felt it necessary to repair San Damiano.

INNOCENT:  You are no doubt aware of the Order of the Augustinians.
FRANCESCO:  (Pause.)  The gospels provide us with our canon, which we actively implement in our lives.

INNOCENT:  The Benedictines?

FRANCESCO:  The Brothers have chosen not to be cloistered.

INNOCENT:  Why?

FRANCESCO:  Living in solitude affords the chance to pray, to speak with God.  Living among the people enables us to serve Him as his instruments.
INNOCENT:  I have dealt, in recent years, with the Humiliati.  I have dealt with the Patarini.  And I have dealt most extensively with the Cathars.  I do not wish to entertain yet another schism from Rome.

FRANCESCO:  Nor is that my intent, Your Grace.  I do not seek to establish a new Order.  I seek only the sanction of our Rule. 

INNOCENT:  A Rule gleaned from the Bible?

FRANCESCO:  Yes, Your Grace.  The Rule of chastity, the Rule of obedience, and, greatest of all, the Rule of poverty, the bride to whom we are forever wed.

INNOCENT:  Francesco, how many of you are living at Santa Maria?

FRANCESCO:  There are fifty of us.

INNOCENT:  Father Leo has accompanied you on your journey.  There are others who came with you?

FRANCESCO:  They are in the outer hall.

INNOCENT:  (To Bishop Guido.)  Let them enter.

(Guido exits and returns with eleven of the Brothers, most of whom seem anxious, awed, or both.  Included are Bernardo, Pietro Catanio, Giles, Philip, Rufino, Juniper, Leo, Sabbatino, Morico, Elias, and Sylvester.)
FRANCESCO:  These are my brothers, who go to uninhabited and remote places to abandon themselves with more love to prayer and meditation, living in simplicity and humility.  Though unknown to other men, their holiness is known to God.

(The eleven kneel fully, their heads bowed upon their knees.)

INNOCENT:  May His blessing be upon you.

(Remaining kneeling, the brothers raise their heads.)
INNOCENT:  My friends, I have heard of your dedication.  But I fear your planned way of life may be too exacting, your rule too hard and severe.  If you wish to found a congregation possessing nothing in this world, where will you obtain the necessities of life?
FRANCESCO:  God will provide for all the sons He raises up through me, that they may spread His message.  We are allowed to eat and drink whatever may be offered us, as alms to the poor. But were we to possess goods, we would also have to have arms to defend them.  From wealth come questions and lawsuits.  Thus, the love of God and the love of neighbor are hindered in many ways.  Therefore, we want no possessions in this world.

INNOCENT:  This, then, is your Rule?

FRANCESCO:  This is what I wish; this is what I seek; this is what I long for with all my heart.

(All present are very moved.  Innocent ponders a few moments before responding.)
INNOCENT:  Giovanni Francesco, you have been blessed by God.  How, then, can I not give you my blessing as well?  

(Francesco kneels and makes the sign of the cross.)

SAN PAOLO:  Brother Francesco promises obedience and reverence to His Holiness Pope Innocent III and his successors.  Let all the Brothers be bound to obey Brother Francesco and those who follow him.

(Innocent now stands and approaches Francesco, placing his hands on Francesco’s shoulders.)

INNOCENT:  My son, you spoke of a vision you experienced at the church of San Damiano.  “Go and repair my church, which is being destroyed.”  I, too, have had a vision.  I saw a basilica crumbling and leaning to one side.  A stranger appeared and propped it up, holding it upright.  Francesco, it is not a church you are to repair; it is the Church.  You are the stranger.
(Innocent now raises Francesco upright.  Innocent kneels at his feet.)
INNOCENT:  Go with the Lord; and as the Lord will see fit to inspire, preach penance to one and all.

(Innocents kisses Francesco’s feet.  Music in.  End of Act One.)
ACT  TWO

Scene 1
(Santa Maria della Portiuncula, 1211.  Several rudimentary huts are scattered upstage. The “Lesser Brothers” are dressed similarly, but not identically.  Their hooded, calf-length robes are various shades of grey and brown.  Each also wears a cord about his waist, knotted three times below.  They are all barefoot.   In one area, Sabbatino and Bernardo are working on baskets.  Near one of the huts, Sylvester is repairing a wall, while Juniper is working on the roof.  Elias is reading aloud from the Bible.)
ELIAS:  (Reading.)  “Build a boat for yourself out of good timber; make rooms in it and cover it with tar inside and out.  Make it 450 feet long, 75 feet wide, and 45 feet high.”

SABBATINO:  Big boat.

(Elias looks up from his reading, somewhat annoyed.)

SYLVESTER:  The ark had to accommodate many creatures, Sabbatino.
BERNARDO:  Go on, Elias.

ELIAS:  (Continuing.)  “Make a roof for the boat and leave a space of 18 inches between the roof and the sides.  Build it with three decks and a door in the side.  I am going . . .”

(At this moment, Juniper slides off the roof of the hut, screaming loudly as he does so.  Bernardo and Sylvester run to his side, the other two following.)
SYLVESTER:  Juniper!

BERNARDO:  (Kneeling beside the fallen Juniper.)  Are you all right?

JUNIPER:  (Groaning a bit as he sits up.)  I don’t think I would have been of much help to Noah.

BERNARDO:  (Helping him up.)  Here, Juniper.  Why don’t you finish that basket and I’ll finish mending the roof for you.

(The Brothers laugh as they resume their former activities.)

SABBATINO:  Finish the story, Elias.  Does he build the boat?

ELIAS:  (Reading.)  “I will make a covenant with you.  Go into the boat with your wife, your sons, and their wives.  Take into the boat with you a male and female of every kind of animal and of every kind of bird, in order to keep them alive.  Take along all kinds of food for you and for them.”
(In the middle of the story, Francesco enters hurriedly.)

FRANCESCO:  I heard a scream.  Is everyone all right?

SYLVESTER:  Yes, Francesco.  Brother Juniper only thought to see if he could fly.

(Francesco crosses to Juniper to check on him.  As he does, he takes the Bible from Elias.)
FRANCESCO:  I’ve always felt the presence of God in you, Juniper.  Perhaps you really are one of his winged creatures.  (All chuckle.)  Philip and Catanio stayed the night at Gubbio?

SABBATINO:  Yes, with the lepers.

FRANCESCO:  And the others?

BERNARDO:  Leo and Rufino thought to catch some fish for the Abbot.

FRANCESCO:  Good.  Our rent for the year is overdue.

SABBATINO:  Where would we have gone had he and the monks at Subasio not given us the Portiuncula?

FRANCESCO:  I don’t know, Sabbatino.  Somewhere.  Maybe San Damiano.  You worry too much.

ELIAS:  God always provides.

(Giles and Morico enter with a small cart full of wood.  Elias helps them unload.)
BERNARDO:  See how He provides!

(All exchange greetings and resume their respective activities.  Elias, Giles, and Morico unload wood, Sabbatino and Juniper work on baskets, Bernardo is on the roof, and Sylvester continues repairing the wall.)
GILES:  The olives will be ready for picking next week.

JUNIPER:  I want to help harvest this year.

SYLVESTER:  Keep him on the ground, Brother Giles.

(Leo and Rufino enter carrying baskets of fish.)  
SABBATINO:  Ah, our fishermen have returned.

FRANCESCO:  (Going to greet  them.)  A good catch this morning, eh?

LEO:  The fish swim right into Rufino’s hands.

RUFINO:  The Abbot will be well-blessed this year.

LEO:  Come.  Let us prepare them.

(Leo and Rufino begin to clean the fish.)
FRANCESCO:  (Watching them.)  So should we all be fishers of men.  (Now addressing the others.)  My Brothers, God has blessed us since we returned from Rome.  There are now over 100 in the Order of the Lesser Brothers.  It has been on my mind to expand our mission, in number as well as destinations.  What say you all?
BERNARDO:  I should like to travel further, and reach more of His flock.

(Philip and Catanio enter.  Francesco approaches them warmly.)

FRANCESCO:  Philip!  Pietro Catanio!  It is good to see you.

CATANIO:  And you, Francesco.

PHILIP:  There is another with us.

FRANCESCO:  And that is good.  Who is it?  Bring him in.

(Clare di Favarone enters, elegantly dressed, and carrying some loaves of bread.)

FRANCESCO:  Clare!  (Embracing her.)  How good to see you.

CLARE:  I’ve brought the Brothers some bread.

FRANCESCO:  (Taking the bread from her.)  Thank you, Clare.

CLARE:  (Pause.)  There is another reason I’ve come.  (Pause.)  I wish to join you.
(Francesco seats Clare and sits next to her.)
CLARE:  I have thought of it for many months.  I have heard you preach at San Rufino, at Foligno and Camarino.  I thought to follow you many times.  Then, this morning, at the colony at Gubbio, I saw Philip and Catanio.  I decided to come back with them.

FRANCESCO:  Your parents?

CLARE:  They do not know.

FRANCESCO:  Clare, your family is one of the wealthiest of all Assisi, your father one of the most respected.
CLARE:  So was your earthly father.  (Pause.)  I wish to enlighten my heart, to do penance according to your example and your teaching, Brother Francesco.

FRANCESCO:  You are certain?

CLARE:  With all of my heart.  Please, Francesco, do not turn me away.  Do not doubt my devotion to God, now and always.

(Francesco stares at her.  He then rises, extending his hand for her to take.  She places her hand in his, and the two of them exit slowly.  The Brothers are quiet, some of them glancing at each other.  Lights fade.)
ACT  TWO

Scene 2

(The Portiuncula, a few days later.  Giles and Juniper are sorting through a vat of olives, Juniper occasionally popping one into his mouth.  Sylvester continues his work on one of the huts.)
GILES:  I told you it would be a good harvest.

JUNIPER:  I could eat olives all day.

SYLVESTER:  Yes, you seem to be doing that already.

(The sound of a horse arriving is heard.)

GILES:  (Rising.)  Someone is here.

(A wealthy older gentleman approaches.  This is Monaldo Offreduccio, authoritative and impatient, the uncle of Clare.) 
GILES:  (Greeting Mondaldo.)  Pax vobiscum.
MONALDO:  You are Francesco Bernardone?

GILES:  I am Brother Giles.  You would like to see Francesco?

MONALDO:  If  you please.

(Juniper exits to get Francesco.)
GILES:  He is in prayer.

MONALDO:  He’ll need plenty of those once I talk with him.

SYLVESTER:  Something is wrong?

MONALDO:  He has stolen the daughter of Favarone Offreduccio.  I am here to return her home.

(Francesco enters, followed by a nervous Juniper.)

FRANCESCO:  Dominus vobiscum.

MONALDO:  You are Francesco Bernardone?

FRANCESCO:  I am Brother Francesco, yes.

MONALDO:  You have my niece, Clare di Favarone, with you?

FRANCESCO:  She came here a few days ago.  She is at San Damiano now, living with four others.

MONALDO:  I am here to return her to her father.

FRANCESCO:  Clare has committed herself to a life of poverty for God.

MONALDO:  She is too young to make such a decision.  Her father intends for her to marry intelligence and wealth.
FRANCESCO:  She has already wed.  She will not go with you.

(Unnoticed, Clare enters upstage.  Her former wealthy garment is now replaced by a simple white tunic and head covering.)

MONALDO:  I’m afraid that is not your decision to make.

CLARE:  No, Uncle Monaldo.  It is mine.

MONALDO:  Clare!  You must return with me to Assisi.  Your father is very upset.

CLARE:  There are five of us cloistered at San Damiano now.  We form the Order of the Poor Sisters.

MONALDO:  What are you talking about?  What “Order”?

FRANCESCO:  I have established a second order – the Poor Sisters of Clare.

MONALDO:  You have no right to do that!  By whose authority did you establish this Order?
CLARE:  By God’s authority.

MONALDO:  Five women living alone in that crumbling shack!  Favarone will not allow it!

CLARE:  I’m afraid it is not his decision to make.  (Pause.)  Tell my father and my mother not to worry.  We are watched over by Brother Rufino and Father Leo.  And Our Heavenly Father watches over us all.

MONALDO:  (To Clare.)  You are mad.  These are the ravings of an inexperienced girl infatuated with a romantic notion of rebellion!

(Clare approaches Monaldo and removes her head covering, revealing her shorn hair.)
MONALDO:  (To Francesco.)  You will be held accountable.  (Turning to leave.)  I shall return.

(Monaldo exits.  Juniper goes quietly to Clare and escorts her off.  Sylvester, Giles, and Francesco remain, silent for a few moments.)

SYLVESTER:  In the end, he is nothing but a fool.

FRANCESCO:  (Quietly.)  Do not look down upon those whom you see dressed in fine clothes.  Rather, let everyone judge himself.

(Francesco sits, lost in thought.  Sylvester and Giles look at each other.  Lights fade.)

ACT  TWO

Scene 3

(The Portiuncula, 1214.  Francesco is reading from the Bible to the eleven Brothers, who are informally gathered around him, most sitting.)
FRANCESCO:  (Reading.)  “As you go, proclaim the good news, ‘The kingdom of heaven has come near.’  Take no gold or silver or copper in your belts, no bag for your journey, nor two tunics, nor sandals, nor a staff.”  (Closing Bible.)  My dear Brothers, God has called us forth not only for our own salvation, but for the salvation of those around us.  The Lesser Brothers now exceed 1,000 members.  Let us go forth, two by two, to proclaim the good news and to give encouragement to men and women through our words and deeds.  In nominee Patris, et Filii, et Spiritus Sancti.
(The eleven Brothers respond “Amen.”  The lights fade except for a special on Francesco up center.  He kneels, as the pairs move to five different areas of the stage, representative of their preaching.  [Elias exits.]  During the following, as each pair is illuminated, they “preach” in pantomime to a group of people.)
FRANCESCO:  Lord, make me an instrument of Thy peace.

(Special up on first pair preaching:  Leo and Rufino.)

FRANCESCO:  Where there is hatred, let me sow love.

(Special up on second pair on opposite side of stage:  Bernardo and Sylvester.)

FRANCESCO:  Where there is injury, pardon.

(Special up on third pair:  Philip and Pietro Catanio.)

FRANCESCO:  Where there is despair, hope.

(Special up on fourth pair:  Giles and Morico.)

FRANCESCO:  Where there is darkness, light.

(Special up on last pair:  Juniper and Sabbatino.  Five specials are now up, in addition to Francesco’s.)

FRANCESCO:  And where there is sadness, joy.

(All specials now fade except for Francesco’s.  He rises before speaking.  As he speaks, he crosses straight down center, suggesting his own journey.)
FRANCESCO:  “And He commanded us to preach the Gospel to the people and to testify that He is the One whom God has appointed judge of the living and the dead.”

(As Francesco reaches far down center, Middle Eastern music begins to play, setting the stage for Francesco’s meeting with the Sultan in the next scene.  Lights fade.)

ACT  TWO

Scene 4

(Outside the city of Damietta, Egypt, at the mouth of the Nile, 1219.  The pavilion of Malik al-Kamil, Sultan of Egypt, and general commander of military forces in Syria, Palestine, and Egypt.  Francesco is seated.  The Sultan is standing, facing away from Francesco.)

SULTAN:  You have your bishops and archbishops; we have our Sufiyya.  Following our meeting yesterday, the counselors believe you to be a spy for the crusaders.  They have found you guilty of attempts at conversion.  And they have called for your immediate beheading as retribution for these crimes.  (Turning now to face Francesco.)  Tell me, Francesco, why should I not listen to their advice?  Why should I not kill you?

FRANCESCO:  Whether or not you kill me is not for me to say.  It is out of my hands.  God will decide what you will do.  You act only as His instrument.  .
SULTAN:  You speak in riddles.  (Pause.)  No so long ago, when I was a young man, my uncle, Saladin, served as my mentor in the ways of war.  Perhaps you have heard his name?  He was a great general of Egypt.  He taught me many things about battle and strategy.  But greatest of all – he taught me courage, and pride, and belief in God against the infidels.  He was not fond of war for its own sake.  Three times he offered to make peace with the crusaders.  Three times he was refused.  Now he is gone.  But I learned much from him.  I command the armies of Syria, of Palestine, and of Egypt.  Twice on the battlefield I have defeated the Christians.  And now, I have turned back their conquest of Damietta, by which they hoped to infiltrate my country.  Perhaps, then, you can understand my suspicions. (Pause.)  You have said you are not a messenger of these crusaders?
FRANCESCO:  I am a messenger from God.  I am not a member of this crusade, but I am a crusader of a different sort.  

SULTAN:  This marks the fifth time such an attack has been launched against us.

FRANCESCO:  As I have told you, I visited with Rome in an attempt to dissuade such an attack.
SULTAN:  And your efforts, too, were in vain.  Tell me, what is to be gained from such aggression?

FRANCESCO:  The fifth crusade was launched to reclaim parts of the Holy Land now under your jurisdiction, particularly Jerusalem.

SULTAN:  And you support such a claim?

FRANCESCO:  The Holy Land belongs to God’s people – all of God’s people, who are redeemed by His Son.
SULTAN:  Jesus was a great prophet, but a human being nonetheless.

FRANCESCO:  His full humanity is essential for the salvation of imperfect man.
SULTAN:  Then how can you claim he is God?  How can a human be God?

FRANCESCO:  The Father entered into the world of time and space with a single breath.  He exhaled, and his breath was articulated, made manifest in His son, the Word.

SULTAN:  More twisted words.  

FRANCESCO:  Jesus is a messenger for all of us.

SULTAN:  So is Muhammad a messenger – an instrument, as you are so fond of saying – of Allah.  But we make no claim that Muhammad was the Almighty.
FRANCESCO:  Sultan al-Kamil, I have no more to say.  His will be done.

SULTAN:  (After deliberating a few moments.)  I am a man of God.  Of that I have no doubt.  You are a man of God.  Of that, too, I have no doubt.  But I can no more profess to your faith than you to mine.  When and how and if God entered history cannot be known.  But He is present now and for all time to come in you, and in me.  May the day soon arrive when we recognize His presence in us all.
FRANCESCO:  (Quietly.)  Amen.

SULTAN:  (Crossing directly to Francesco and raising him up.)  I choose not to follow my counselors’ advice.  I choose to release you.  And I choose to send two of my guards to accompany you to the Holy Land and Jerusalem, where Christians may not enter. Go in peace.

(Francesco bows and exits.  The lights fade.) 
ACT  TWO

Scene 5

(The Portiuncula, 1220.  At rise, only three of the Brothers are on stage.  Philip is reading a book, Sabbatino is working on a pair of sandals, and Morico is washing some of the Brothers’ robes in a tub.  A few moments pass as they work in silence.  Quietly, Francesco enters.  Carrying a staff, he walks slowly and a bit unsteadily.  His eyesight has started to fade, though not immediately apparent to the others.  Morico is the first to notice him.)
MORICO:  (Going to him.)  Francesco!

(Philip and Sabbatino now discover him as well.  Rising, they greet and embrace him.  He acknowledges each of them by name.)

SABBATINO:  How good it is to see you.  We have been expecting you for many weeks now.

FRANCESCO:  I am not able to travel so well as in years past.  

PHILIP:  (Noticing.)  Your eyes . . .

FRANCESCO:  Yes.  Things are not as clear to me as before.
MORICO:  Come.  Sit down.

(They lead him to a boulder upon which he sits.)
FRANCESCO:  I will rest a bit.  Go on about your work.  (Having noticed his book, speaking to Philip.)  You were reading the gospel for Sabbatino and Morico?
PHILIP:  No, we have had our Bible readings for the morning.  It is Saint Augustine.

FRANCESCO:  Augustine?

PHILIP:  “City of God.”

FRANCESCO:  (Masking his disappointment.)  Yes.  And you, Sabbatino, you have been hard at work?
SABBATINO:  Elias is in need of new sandals.  

(Francesco looks at their feet, all of which now have sandals on them.)
FRANCESCO:  Morico?

MORICO:  I have the duty now of washing the Brothers’ robes.

FRANCESCO:   (Pause.)  Their spare robes.

MORICO:  Yes.

(Francesco simply stares at him.  The three Brothers are now visibly uncomfortable.)

PHILIP:  (Breaking the tension.)  But tell us of yourself, Francesco.  You met with the Sultan?

FRANCESCO:  (Looking at Philip for a few moments before answering.)  Yes, Philip.  I met with him.  He is a man of God.
(The three Brothers exchange looks with one another.)

FRANCESCO:  I also met with Honorius on my return.

SABBATINO:  You have been to Rome?

FRANCESCO:  Yes.

(Elias and Bernardo now enter, both wearing sandals.  Bernardo goes to Francesco  and embraces him.)

BERNARDO:  Francesco!  

ELIAS:  Francesco!  When did you return?

FRANCESCO:  I have only just arrived, Elias.

BERNARDO:  I missed you, dear friend.

FRANCESCO:  And I you.

ELIAS:  We have all missed you.

SABBATINO:  Francesco has been to Rome and met with the pope.

FRANCESCO:  Yes.  Honorius seems a worthy successor to Innocent.
PHILIP:  He . . . told of Cardinal Ugolino?

FRANCESCO:  The Cardinal has been named as the protector of our Order.

ELIAS:  It is a blessing for the pope to have done so.  

FRANCESCO:  Is it?

SABBATINO:  Our Order now numbers thousands of members.

PHILIP:  And not only in Italy, but France and Spain, England.

FRANCESCO:  God has blessed us.

(Rufino and Leo now enter, carrying baskets of fish.  Neither of them wears sandals.  Upon seeing Francesco, they run to him and greet him joyously.)
RUFINO:  Francesco, you do not look well.

LEO:  (Admonishingly.)  Rufino.

PHILIP:  He has traveled for many months.

MORICO:  He does not see well.

FRANCESCO:  No.  (Looking at Elias.)  I seem to have lost my way.

ELIAS:  There are many more Brothers now, Francesco, in many more places.  Honorius has called for a new Rule.  It has become necessary.

PHILIP:  To insure consistency throughout the Order.

SABBATINO:  To make things more practical.

FRANCESCO:  I understand, Brother Sabbatino.

LEO:  (Gently.)  Francesco, Cardinal Ugolino serves now as the protector of the Order.

(Giles and Juniper have drifted on from one side of the stage;  from the other, Sylvester and Pietro Catanio.    None of them wear sandals.  They remain quiet, sensitive to the unease.)

MORICO:  He knows, Leo.

ELIAS:  There are over 5,000 of the Lesser Brothers now, Francesco, in many countries.  They want land of their own.  They want to read of Augustine and Aquinas and all the books of the Bible, not just the Gospels.  They want cleanliness and discipline and order.  A more traditional lifestyle to better suit their needs.
FRANCESCO:  (Quietly.)  Their needs . . .

GILES:  (Very softly.)  Francesco . . .
FRANCESCO:  My body, and my spirit, have grown weak.  At this moment, I give back to the Lord the family which up until now He has entrusted to me.  I can no longer care for them.  From this day forward, I am dead to you.  (Going to Catanio now.)  But here we have Brother Pietro Catanio.  Let us all, you and I, now obey him.
(Francesco kisses Catanio on both cheeks and slowly exits.  Lights fade.)

ACT  TWO

Scene 6

(September 14, 1224.  Mount Verna in the Apennine mountain range of central Italy.  Leo enters, helping Francesco, on whose face can now be seen a number of scabs and sores.  His vision has further deteriorated, and he walks with difficulty.)
FRANCESCO:  Here is the place.  No further.

LEO:  (Seating him.)  I’ll get the others.

FRANCESCO:  No.  Only you, Leo.  Let Rufino and Giles be.

LEO:  (Looking around.)  You have been here before?

FRANCESCO:  Many times, to pray and meditate.  (Referring to a point offstage.)  See that grotto over there?

LEO:  Yes.

FRANCESCO:  That is where I shall pass the nights.

LEO:  Forty days and nights is a long time, Francesco.  I am worried for you.

FRANCESCO:  I must be alone.  Do not tell the others.  Once in the morning and once at night, you bring food and water.  Leave it at the bridge down by the crossing.  You will not see me.  You must not search for me.  I will be all right.
LEO:  (Sitting next to him.)  Francesco, I don’t know that you can fully care for yourself up here.

FRANCESCO:  (Taking his hand.)  Friend Leo, whom I love with all my heart, you know that I will not be alone.

LEO:  (Pause.)  Of course.

FRANCESCO:  (Pause.)  It was ten years ago that my father died.  I have thought much about him.

LEO:  Francesco . . .

FRANCESCO:  Two years after that, Innocent.  (Pause.)  And then, Catanio.  One can say he is in heaven.  But Leo, I miss seeing his face.  (Placing his hand on Leo’s face.)  And I miss seeing yours.
LEO:  (Very moved, taking Francesco’s hand in his.)  Pietro Catanio was a blessing for us all.  He was our father for a year.

FRANCESCO:  One year . . .
LEO:  Elias is a good man, Francisco, a holy man.  We will be all right.

FRANCESCO:  Go now.

(Leo kisses Francesco’s hand and exits.  Francesco waits a few moments before struggling to kneel.)
FRANCESCO:  (Bowing his head.)  Most high, almighty Lord, to You belongs every praise and blessing, every glory and honor.  I am not worthy to utter your name.  What am I but your useless servant?  For what have I lived this life?  (With difficulty.)  And tell me, God above, do you hear my cry from this wilderness below?
(As early in the first act, a dove appears.  Francesco becomes aware of it, and cups his hands, into which the dove flies.  He begins to weep.  Soon, the sound of many birds is heard, arriving at the site.  Francesco, still holding the dove, stands in awe, and moves downstage.  The sound of the birds grows still.  He begins speaking to them.)

FRANCESCO:  My brother birds, listen to me.  You owe much to your Creator.  You must greatly praise Him and love Him always.  He has given you feathers to wear, and wings to fly.  Though you neither sow nor reap, He made you noble among His creatures, giving you rivers for your thirst, mountains and valleys for your shelter, and trees for your nests.  You neither spin, nor weave; yet, He loves you greatly and protects you without your least care.  Therefore, always seek to praise God.
(He now releases the dove he is holding.  The startling sound of many wings is heard as the other birds now fly away as well.  Francesco, his arms still aloft, now sinks down and falls back on the ground, his arms outstretched at his sides.  The lights begin a slow crossfade to red.  Francesco begins to experience the throes of mystical ecstasy.  He whispers incoherently and moans quietly, rocking slightly.  As the lights continue to crossfade, dark spots appear on Francesco’s hands, feet, and right side.  This experience should last between 30 – 60 seconds.  At the end, Francesco calls out to God.  Lights quickly fade.)  
ACT  TWO

Scene 7

(The Portiuncula, 1226.  October 4, 1226.  Francesco lies upon a low cot, his body covered with a shroud.  He is now totally blind, and his body is covered with sores.  His hands and feet have been wrapped with linen.  He is on his deathbed.  Bernardo sits on a small stool to his left; Leo, his right.  The remaining eight brothers are on either side.  Accommodating Francesco’s sensitivity to light, the scene is very dim, with the only illumination, if possible, coming from candles held by one or two of the Brothers.)
FRANCESCO:  (Very weak.)  Bernardo.

BERNARDO:  Here, Francesco.

FRANCESCO:  Give me your hand.  (Bernardo does.)  You were the first the Lord sent to me, the first to give up all your possessions to the poor.  Because of this, I am bound to love you all the more.

(Clare rushes in and speaks in a hushed whisper.)
CLARE:  Francesco?

(Leo goes to her and ushers her in.)

CLARE:  It is too late?

(Leo places her in his former position on a stool to the right of Francesco.  He hands her some paper and a pen and moves to upstage of the bed.)

LEO:  No, he wishes you to write down his words.

FRANCESCO:  Clare?

CLARE:  Here, Francesco.

FRANCESCO:  (Smiling faintly.)  My poor, little Clare.

CLARE:  I am ready.

FRANCESCO:  (Dictating to Clare.)




Be praised, my Lord, with all Your creatures,





Especially Lord Brother Sun,





To whom we owe both day and light,





For he is beautiful, radiant, and of great splendor;





Of You, most High, he is the emblem.





Be praised, my Lord, through Sister Moon and the stars,





You have made them in the heavens, bright, precious, beautiful.





Be praised, my Lord, through Brothers Wind and Air,





Through cloud, clear skies and all other weather





By which You give Your creatures sustenance.





Be praised, my Lord, through Sister Water,





So very useful, humble, precious, and chaste.





Be praised, my Lord, through Brother Fire,





By whom You enlighten the night;





He is beautiful, merry, robust, and strong.

(Francesco falters.  A few moments of hushed anxiety follow.)


CLARE:  Go on, Francesco.

FRANCESCO:  (With great effort, barely audible.)




Be praised, my Lord, through our sister, Mother Earth,





Who sustains and looks after us,





With fruits, and flowers, and grass.

(He has finished.  He looks at his Brothers surrounding him and speaks directly to them.)

FRANCESCO:  Goodbye, all my sons.  Live in the love of God and remain in Him always.  Now I am heading to the Lord, confident of having served Him in my spirit.  I wish you always to love one another, as I have loved each one of you.  (Pause.)  Please, clear my hands and feet; remove the shroud. Place my body naked on the ground.

(Bernardo, Giles, Elias, and Leo remove the bandages from his hands and feet, revealing bloody wounds.  At the same time, Rufino removes the bandage from his side, causing Francesco to moan.  The Brothers and Clare stare in awe at the wounds, and then at each other.  Next, they remove the shroud, lift the sheet on which his body lies, and lay it on the ground next to the cot.)
FRANCESCO:  (Once on the ground.)  Free my soul from prison, that I may praise Thy name.

(He dies.  Juniper is weeping.  After a few moments, the Brothers begin the “Dies Irae” heard in the prologue.  Bernardo, Giles, Elias, and Leo lift the stretcher with the corpse and begin to process.  The other Brothers fall in behind, carrying lit candles.  They wind up in the same position as in the Prologue.  Other individuals can now be seen among the crowd, including Maria and Pica, supporting each other upstage.  The Prologue tableau is repeated; the singing stops.  For a few moments, all is quiet.  Then, the sound of birds in flight, ascending.  Lights fade.  All candles are extinguished.  End of play.)
END
.................................................................................... 

© Copyright Doug Goheen, all rights reserved. The script may not be reproduced, translated or copied in any medium, including books, CDs and on the Internet, without written permission of the author.
This play may be performed free of charge, on the condition that copies are not sold for profit in any medium, nor any entrance fee charged. In exchange for free performance, the author would appreciate being notified of when and for what purpose the play is performed. He may be contacted at:  dgoheen1@sbcglobal.net 
PAGE  
1

